# PROFILING OF EXTENSION OF TIME CASES IN MALAYSIAN CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

ABDUL HAFIZ BIN ABDUL LATIF

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Master of Science (Construction Contract Management)

Faculty of Built Environment and Surveying Universiti Teknologi Malaysia

AUGUST 2022

# DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my late brother, Muid Latif, for showing me that kindness, dedication, and perseverance will take you far and beyond in life.

(Al-Fatihah)

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

In preparing this thesis, I was in contact with many people, researchers, and academicians. They have contributed towards my understanding and thoughts. In particular, I wish to express my sincere appreciation to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Norazam bin Othman, for his encouragement, guidance, critics and friendship. I am also very thankful to my coordinator, Dr. Hamizah Liyana Tajul Ariffin for her guidance, advice and motivation. Without their continued support and interest, this thesis would not have been the same as presented here.

I am also indebted to Librarians at UTM, Johor campus and Kuala Lumpur campus who deserve special thanks for their assistance in supplying the relevant literatures.

My fellow postgraduate classmates should also be recognised for their support. I am grateful to all my family members for their emotional support during my postgraduate journey.

#### ABSTRACT

In the construction industry, disputes commonly happen because of the elements of competitive nature, complexity, and comprehensive contractual requirements of the construction projects. Delay and over costing are widespread occurrences in the construction industry. The nature of construction delays is such that they do not arise because of a single event, but rather because of a series of events that occur over time during the construction process. To account for this possibility, a competent construction contract must include clauses relating to Extension of Time (EOT) which allows a construction project's completion date to be changed while protecting the client. However, according to the National Construction Contracts and Law Report 2018, EOT is the most common issue being disputed. The two objectives of this research are to develop a profile of EOT cases in Malaysian construction projects and to determine the commonalities between the issues contributing to the disputes regarding EOT in Malaysian construction projects. The purpose of this study is to help contractors and employers better grasp their legal rights in disputes relating to EOT. The methodology used in the study is qualitative research using legal case analysis to study the court cases collected from the LexisNexis database. Fifteen cases were identified to be relevant for the discussion of the time extension issues. The findings of this research are categorized into elements of a profile of cases. It was found that there was an uptrend in the number of cases from the year 2012 to 2022, an even distribution of parties involved in the dispute between Client-Main Contractor and Main Contractor-Subcontractor, the construction phase being the most common time of conflict in the disputes, and Main Contractor being the usual party to hold liability in the disputes. Apart from that, the commonalities between the disputes which become an obstacle in claiming for EOT are delay in the performance of work by the contractor, changes in working orders by the client, termination during the construction phase, prolongation, acceleration, and the contractor's lack of attention to requirements of EOT application. The importance of the findings is to facilitate the construction players to understand through the profile of cases, the common issues in granting EOTs, the disputes related to it, and, to facilitate the preparation of the risk management or assessment before going into a contract or before going into a dispute.

#### ABSTRAK

Dalam industri pembinaan, pertikaian biasanya berlaku kerana unsur-unsur sifat kompetitif, kerumitan, dan keperluan kontrak yang komprehensif bagi projek pembinaan. Kelewatan dan kos berlebihan adalah kejadian norma dalam industri pembinaan. Sifat kelewatan pembinaan adalah sedemikian rupa sehingga ia tidak timbul kerana satu peristiwa, sebaliknya kerana satu siri peristiwa yang berlaku dari semasa ke semasa dalam proses pembinaan. Untuk mengambil kira kemungkinan ini, kontrak pembinaan yang cekap mesti memasukkan klausa yang berkaitan dengan Lanjutan Masa (LM) yang membenarkan tarikh penyiapan projek pembinaan ditukar sambil melindungi klien. Menurut Laporan Kontrak dan Undang-undang Pembinaan Kebangsaan 2018, LM ialah isu yang paling biasa dipertikaikan. Dua objektif penyelidikan ini adalah untuk membangunkan profil kes LM dalam projek pembinaan Malaysia dan untuk menentukan persamaan antara isu yang menyumbang kepada pertikaian mengenai LM dalam projek pembinaan Malaysia. Tujuan kajian ini adalah untuk membantu kontraktor dan majikan memahami dengan lebih baik hak undang-undang mereka dalam pertikaian berkaitan LM. Metodologi yang digunakan dalam kajian adalah penyelidikan kualitatif menggunakan analisis kes undang-undang untuk mengkaji kes mahkamah yang dikumpul daripada pangkalan data LexisNexis. Lima belas kes dikenal pasti relevan untuk perbincangan isu lanjutan masa. Dapatan kajian ini dikategorikan kepada elemen profil kes. Hasil kajiannya, terdapat peningkatan dalam bilangan kes dari tahun 2012 hingga 2022, pengagihan sekata pihak yang terlibat dalam pertikaian antara Klien-Kontraktor Utama dan Kontraktor Utama-Subkontraktor, fasa pembinaan merupakan masa konflik yang paling biasa. dalam pertikaian, dan Kontraktor Utama menjadi pihak biasa yang memegang liabiliti dalam pertikaian. Selain itu, persamaan antara pertikaian yang menjadi penghalang dalam menuntut LM ialah kelewatan dalam pelaksanaan kerja oleh kontraktor, perubahan dalam perintah kerja oleh klien, penamatan semasa fasa pembinaan, pemanjangan, pecutan, dan kekurangan kontraktor, perhatian kepada keperluan aplikasi LM. Kepentingan penemuan adalah untuk memudahkan pemain pembinaan memahami melalui profil kes, isu biasa dalam pemberian LM, pertikaian yang berkaitan dengannya, dan, untuk memudahkan penyediaan pengurusan risiko atau penilaian sebelum memasuki kontrak atau sebelum berlaku pertikaian.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE	PAGE
DECLARATION	iii
DEDICATION	iv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	v
ABSTRACT	vi
ABSTRAK	vii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	viii-xii
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XV
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background of the Research	1
1.2 Problem Statement	3
1.3 Research Question	
1.4 Objective of the Study	
1.5 Scope of the Study	5
1.6 Significance of the Study	5
1.7 Research Methodology	6
1.7.1 Phase 1: Preparation of Research Proposal	6

1.7.2 Phase 2: Literature Review – Background Study	6	
1.7.3 Phase 3: Data Collection and Research Design	7	
1.7.4 Phase 4: Data Analysis and Interpretation	7	
1.7.5 Phase 5: Conclusion and Suggestions	8	
1.8 Organization of the Research	8	
1.8.1 Chapter 1: Introduction	8	
1.8.2 Chapter 2: Literature Review	8	
1.8.3 Chapter 3: Profiling	8	
1.8.4 Chapter 4: Data Collection and Analysis	9	
1.8.5 Chapter 5: Conclusion and Recommendation	9	
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW 10		
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT CLAIMS	10	
2.1 Introduction	10	
2.2 Construction Contract Process and Main Features of Contract	11	
2.3 Claims and Payment		
2.3.1 Construction Claims and Progress Payments	14	
2.3.2 Premises of Claims	15	
2.3.3 Quantum of Claims	18	
2.4 Contractual Provisions in Standard Form of Contract Regarding		
Progress Payment in Malaysia	19	
2.4.1 Advance Payment	20	
2.4.2 Interim Payments	21	

2.4.3 Final Payment21

2.4.4 Obligation of the Client to	Pay	22
2.5 Time-Related Claims		23
2.5.1 Stipulation Relating to Tim	ne	24
2.5.2 Extension of Time – Types	s of Delay in Construction	24
2.5.3 Grounds for Extension of T	Гime	26
2.5.4 Liability for Multi-Event D	Delay	27
2.5.5 Suspension of Works		28
2.5.6 Acceleration		29
2.5.7 Variations		29
2.6 Resolution and Settlement of Disput	tes	30
2.6.1 Commercial Attitude and C	Contractual Provisions	30
2.6.2 Negotiation		32
2.6.3 Resolution of Disputes by	Third Parties	32
2.7 Conclusion		35
CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOG	GY	36
3.1 Introduction		36
3.2 Definition of Profiling of Cases		
3.3 The Importance of Profiling of Cases		
3.4 Elements of Profiling of Extension of	of Time (EOT) Cases	39
3.4.1 Year of Dispute Cases		40
3.4.2 Types of Parties involved i	in the Disputes	40
3.4.3 Time of Conflict in the Dis	spute	40
3.4.4 Legal Issues of the Dispute	2	42

3.4.5 Judgment of the Court	43
3.5 Cases Research	
3.5.1 The Search of the Cases	43
3.5.2 Narrowing Down the Cases	44
3.5.3 Reasons of Selection of the Cases	45
3.6 Conclusion	

# CHAPTER 4 PROFILING OF EXTENSION OF TIME (EOT) CASES IN MALAYSIAN CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

49

83

4.1 Introduction	49
4.2 Summary of Extension of Time (EOT) Cases	50
4.2.1 Cases from Malayan Law Journal Reported	50
4.2.2 Cases from Malayan Law Journal Unreported	57
4.3 Analysis of Year of Dispute Cases	62
4.4 Analysis of Types of Parties involved in the Disputes	65
4.5 Analysis of Time of Conflict in the Disputes	69
4.6 Analysis of Legal Issues of the Dispute	72
4.7 Analysis of Judgement of the Court	76
4.8 Discussion on the Commonalities between Disputes	78
4.9 Conclusion	82

# CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTIONS FOR FURTHER RESEARCH

5.1 Introduction	83
5.2 Summary of Findings of the Research	83

5.3 Difficulties Experienced during the Research Process	84
5.4 Suggestions for Further Research	85
5.5 Conclusion	85

# REFERENCES

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE NO.	TITLE	PAGE
Table 3.1	List of Selected Cases	48
Table 4.1	Analysis of Year of Dispute Cases	63
Table 4.2	Analysis of Types of Parties Involved	66
Table 4.3	Analysis of Time of Conflict in the Disputes	69
Table 4.4	Analysis of Legal Issues of the Dispute	72
Table 4.5	Analysis of Judgement of the Court	76

# LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE NO	RE NO. TITLE	
Figure 3.1	LexisNexis Advance Database Interface and Filters	45
	Used to Focus on Reported Cases	
Figure 3.2	LexisNexis Advance Database Interface and Filters	45
	Used to Focus on Unreported Cases	
Figure 4.1	Analysis of Year of Dispute Cases	64
Figure 4.2	Types of Parties Involved in Dispute	67
Figure 4.3	Time of Conflict in Disputes	70
Figure 4.4	Percentages of EOT Issues	74
Figure 4.5	Distribution of Winning Party of the Disputes and Liable Party	77

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CIDB	-	Construction Industry Development Board
COVID19	-	Coronavirus Disease
CIPAA	-	Construction Industry Payment & Adjudication Act 2012
EOT	-	Extension of Time
GDP	-	Gross Domestic Product
LD	-	Liquidated Damages
MCO	-	Movement Control Order
MLJ	-	Malayan Law Journal
PAM	-	Pertubuhan Arkitek Malaysia
PWD	-	Public Works Department
SO	-	Superintentant Officer
UTM	-	Universiti Teknologi Malaysia
WHO	-	World Health Organization

#### **CHAPTER 1**

### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Background of the Research**

The Construction Industry is one of the important sectors that contributes to the economic growth in Malaysia. The industry itself accounted for 5.2% of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) with the value of construction work contracted at RM29.5 billion in the year 2022 (DOSM, 2022). The large volume and complexity of projects in Malaysia's construction sector offer significant challenges while also providing countless opportunities for construction players. Construction works in Malaysia are divided into several subsectors which are Residential Buildings, Civil Engineering, Non-Residential Buildings, and Special Trades Activities, while 60.70% of the share of the total value of construction work is held by the private sector, and the remaining 39.30% is held by the public sector.

In Malaysia, a successful construction project is defined as one that is completed on schedule, on budget, and in accordance with the project stakeholders' requirements. In addition, benefits to contractors, functioning, the absence of claims, court proceedings, and "fit for purpose" for the user have all been used as indicators of project success. Despite this, around 70% of construction projects are delayed owing to a variety of factors (Nahiyan *et al.*, 2019).

Delay is the period during which some aspects of a building are delayed or not completed due to unforeseen events. It is common knowledge that undertakings rarely go according to plan. Delays and over costing are widespread occurrences in the construction industry around the world, according to academics. Projects lag behind their planned timetables and exceed their budgets for a variety of causes, both internal and external (Abdul Rahman *et al.*, 2015). According to Nahiyan *et al.* (2019), it is highly rare for a project to be completed within the assigned timetable, despite the adequate planning done to complete the project within the allocated timeframe. The nature of construction delays is such that they do not arise as a result of a single event, but rather as a result of a series of events that occur over time during the construction process.

Delays in construction projects pose an impact on multiple critical parties, such as the architect, engineers, contractors, or even the client. To account for this possibility, a competent construction contract must include clauses relating to Extension of Time (EOT). The Extension of Time (EOT) clause allows a construction project's completion date to be changed if necessary, while simultaneously protecting the client (PropertyGuru, 2022). Extension of Time (EOT) is also defined by The Society of Construction Law in the Delay and Disruption Protocol 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition as an additional time granted to the Contractor to provide an extended contractual period or date by which work must be finished or should be completed, and to relieve it of obligation for losses incurred as a result of the delay (SCL, 2017).

If a delay becomes apparent and is attributable to a justifiable cause, the Extension of Time (EOT) provision allows for allows for the construction period to be extended. When the cause is not the contractors' fault and all reasonable precautions to avoid the cause have been taken, an extension is authorized. Furthermore, the clause absolves the contractor of any duty for liquidated damages incurred as a result of the setbacks (Terence, 2021).

## **1.2 Problem Statement**

In the construction industry, disputes commonly happen because of the elements of competitive nature, complexity, and comprehensive contractual requirements of the construction projects. According to the National Construction Contracts and Law Report 2018, Extension of Time (EOT) is the most common issue being disputed, while the valuation of final account and variations come later, followed by defective works' issue and Loss and Expense (L&E) claims. The disputes involved mostly between the client and the main contractor, and between the main contractor and the sub-contractor. Also, disputes are reported to occur usually during the period of the construction stage (NBS, 2018).

CIDB Construction Law Report 2020 summarized that there are 1,602 construction cases registered across all levels of court in Malaysia. The number of cases disposed of in 2020 is 1,388 construction cases. Although there is no further detailed summary on the type of disputes of the construction cases in Malaysia by the Malaysian Judiciary, the construction disputes are actively being brought to the courts every year, indicating that there are a lot of issues that remain unsolved by the construction parties which lead to the need for dispute resolution method to be pursued (CIDB, 2021a).

Construction project delays are a troubling but controllable issue. Delays in construction projects have become unavoidable and a global issue, becoming one of the construction industry's hurdles. Extension of Time (EOT) in construction projects is the result of a delay in the progress of the work, which has an impact on the project's cost and timeline. As a result, the general causes of Extension of Time (EOT) must be studied through the lens of construction delays.

Client-related delays are the most common reason for time extensions. Clientrelated delays are caused by four main flaws on the client's part: failure to meet his contractual obligations, making changes to the work required under the construction contract, interfering with the contractor's responsibilities, and failing to coordinate the activities of separate contractors. The client's contractual obligations generally include providing the project location, approvals, funds, designs, and contract administration, while particular roles vary by contract.

Apart from that, numerous causes might cause construction projects to be delayed, including contractor errors, incompetence, and management inefficiencies. Clients and designers are typically unaware of the contractor's issues until a substantial schedule slippage develops. All these delays can be avoided if the contractor works efficiently and meticulously to the contract's specifications. The contractor is expected to take all necessary steps to guarantee that the project is finished effectively. There is no provision in the contract for providing an extension of time if the contractor does not take such actions to avoid delay. The contractor bears the risk of such delays, and if they occur, the contractor may be held liable for payment or allow the customer to deduct liquidated damages. On a more serious level, the client could be given the authority to decide on the contractor's employment status under the contract.

On the other hand, most delays in the design and construction process that are not caused by the client, consultants, contractors, suppliers, or any other party are beyond the control of any of the parties. Weather delays, labor disputes, unforeseen calamities, Force Majeure, and unexpected construction delays are among the reasons for the delays. Even with contingency time added, work delays still occur. In the event of a delay, an Extension of Time (EOT) will be allowed, but only on the condition that any subsequent losses and additional expenses be met by the primary contractors (Abdul Rahman *et al.*, 2015; Yusuwan *et al.*, 2021).

#### **1.3 Research Question**

The above problem statements lead to the following research question as stated below:

1.3.1 What are the commonalities between the issues contributing to the disputes regarding the Extension of Time (EOT) in Malaysian construction projects?

### 1.4 Objective of the Study

The objective of this research is as follows:

- 1.4.1 To develop a profile of Extension of Time (EOT) cases in Malaysian construction projects.
- 1.4.2 To determine the commonalities between the issues contributing to the disputes regarding the Extension of Time (EOT) in Malaysian construction projects.

## 1.5 Scope of the Study

The identified scope of this study is as follows: -

- 1.5.1 Construction cases in Malayan Law Journal on LexisNexis database.
- 1.5.2 Cases related to the Malaysian construction industry between the year 2012-2022.

## 1.6 Significance of the Study

The purpose of this study is to raise awareness among the employers and the contractors about the grounds for claiming Extension of Time (EOT) in construction projects and the issues therein. The findings of this study can also help the contractors

and the employers better grasp their legal positions in cases involving Extension of Time (EOT).

Furthermore, this study is critical as a foundational reference for people working in the construction sector, particularly contract administrators. As a result, this study may contribute to the improvement of contracting parties' awareness by disclosing some facts and knowledge about their rights.

#### **1.7 Research Methodology**

Research methodology is required to help carry out and achieve the study objectives. There are five stages to the research methodology procedure:

### **1.7.1 Phase 1: Preparation of Research Proposal**

Initially, the research focused on a wide range of reading and comprehension of the concepts involved. To identify the problem, researchers used a variety of resources, including published journals, articles, and prior research papers, as well as electronic resources like the World Wide Web and online databases from the Universiti Teknologi Malaysia library's website.

#### 1.7.2 Phase 2: Literature Review – Background Study

Following the identification of the study issue and purpose, the literature review is the second stage of the research process. This stage will entail the gathering of documents derived from secondary data. Secondary data was gathered from a variety of sources, including books, journals, research papers, and newspapers. Indeed, in this stage of the literature review, the published 10 reported court cases are the most useful. It's critical to assess the

current state of knowledge in the area of Extension of Time (EOT), including background, definition, techniques, and pertinent events.

#### 1.7.3 Phase 3: Data Collection and Research Design

The methodology used in the development of this report, which spelled out the stages of the research study from inception to completion, is the third stage of the research process. The topics in this study were examined using a variety of case laws. As a result, data was gathered from the Malayan Law Journal (MLJ), which was accessed through the university's online library database, Lexis-Nexis. The data for this study was gathered from a variety of sources, including journals, articles, books, and websites.

There are two sorts of data required for this study. The first is primary data, which may be found in the Malayan Law Journal and other law journals contained in the UTM Online Database, e-Journals & e-Books, and primarily in the LexisNexis Legal Database. The second sort of data is secondary data, which was acquired from journals, articles, seminar papers, and books, and contains reports on construction project Extension of Time (EOT) available from an online database.

### 1.7.4 Phase 4: Data Analysis and Interpretation

Data analysis is the fourth stage of the research process. Data analysis, interpretation, and data organization are all part of this stage. This step involves processing and converting the acquired data into information that can be used in the research. The purpose of this research is to determine the concerns around the disputes relating to the Extension of Time (EOT) in construction. To meet all of the objectives, this chapter will offer data analysis and findings from the research.

#### 1.7.5 Phase 5: Conclusion and Suggestions

The research concludes with conclusions and recommendations. At this point, the entire research process will be examined in order to determine whether the research goal has been met. The findings will be able to demonstrate the research's outcome. A conclusion will be drawn in accordance with the research goals.

#### **1.8 Organization of the Research**

This research covers 5 chapters as per the following: -

#### 1.8.1 Chapter 1: Introduction

This chapter introduces the focus of the research. A brief background of the construction delay and Extension of Time (EOT) is discussed in this chapter. The objective of the study, scope, limitations, significance, and methodology of this research is outlined.

#### 1.8.2 Chapter 2: Literature Review

The second chapter of this research would state the definition and terminologies, backgrounds, and concepts, as well as the existing legal provisions relating to Extension of Time (EOT) and its issues.

#### **1.8.3 Chapter 3: Profiling**

The third chapter explains the methodology used to profile the cases collected in order to bring them forward for discussion.

### 1.8.4 Chapter 4: Data Collection and Analysis

The fourth chapter highlights the grounds of the cases collected, analysis of the cases, and issues identified.

#### **1.8.5 Chapter 5: Conclusion and Recommendation**

In the final chapter, conclusions will be made based on the discussions and analysis. Recommendations for the construction practice and further research will be brought to light.

#### REFERENCES

### 1.0 Books

Abdul Aziz, H. (2006) *Aspek Undang-Undang Dalam Pengurusan Projek Pembinaan*. 1st edn. Edited by M. Azmi. Pulau Pinang: Penerbit Universiti Sains Malaysia.

Abdul Rahman, H. et al. (2015) Delay and Payment Issues in Construction Projects. Second. Kuala Lumpur: University of Malaya Press.

Abu Hassan, A.B. et al. (2017) A Complete Guide to Academic Research in Built Environment & Engineering. 1st edn. Pulau Pinang: Penerbit Universiti Sains Malaysia.

Barrie, D.S. and Paulson, B.C. (1992) *Professional Construction Management: including C.M., Design-Construct and General Contracting*. 1st edn. Singapore: McGraw Hill, Inc.

Chow, K.F. (1988) An Outline of the Law & Practice of Construction Contract Claims. 1st edn. Singapore: Longman Singapore Publishers Pte Ltd.

CIDB (2021b) CIDB Construction Law Report 2020 (Summary of 2020 Written Judgments & Lessons Learnt). 2021st edn. Kuala Lumpur: Construction Industry Development Board Malaysia.

CIOB (2014) *Code of Practice for Project Management for Construction and Development*. 5th edn. United Kingdom: The Chartered Institute of Building.

Denzin, N.K. and Lincoln, Y.S. (2018) *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*. 5th edn. California: SAGE Publications, Inc.

Godwin, W. (2013) *International Construction Contracts: A Handbook*. 1st edn. United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

Kothari, C.R. (2004) *Research Methodology: Methods & Techniques*. New Delhi: New Age International Limited.

Kumar, R. (2011) *Research Methodology: a step-by-step guide for beginners*. 3rd edn. New Delhi: SAGE Publications India Pvt Ltd.

Mohd Danuri, M.S. (2021) *Dispute Avoidance and Resolution Procedure for the Construction Industry*. Kuala Lumpur: University of Malaya Press. doi:10.14425/9789674881801.

Nor Ainah, A. (2019) *Basics of Construction Contracts: PAM, PWD, CIDB, and FIDIC Standard*. 1st edn. Shah Alam: UiTM Press.

Robinson, N.M. *et al.* (1996) *Construction Law in Singapore and Malaysia*. 2nd edn. Singapore: Butterworths Asia.

Seidman, I. (2006) Interviewing as Qualitative Research: A Guide for Researchers in

Education and the Social Science. 3rd edn. New York: Teachers College Press.

Thomas, R. (2001) *Construction Contract Claims*. 2nd edn. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Whitfield, J. (2012) *Conflicts in Construction*. 2nd edn. United Kingdom: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

## 2.0 Journal/Articles

Asamaoh, R.O. and Offei-Nyako, K. (2013) 'Variation Determinants in Building Construction: Ghanaian Professionals Perspective', *Journal of Construction Engineering and Project Management*, 3(4), pp. 20–25. doi:10.6106/JCEPM.2013.3.4.020.

Gajare, Y., Attarde, P. and Parbat, D.K. (2014) 'Assessment Of Significant Causes And Effects Of Delays On The Projects Completion Period', *International Journal of Modern Trends in Engineering and Research*, 2(2), pp. 88–93. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/273000650\_Assessment\_Of\_Significant\_C auses\_And\_Effects\_Of\_Delays\_On\_The\_Projects\_Completion\_Period (Accessed: 4 July 2022).

Kamandang, Z.R. and Casita, C.B. (2018) 'Delays in Contruction Project: A Review', *International Conferrence on Advance Engineering and Technology*, 1st, pp. 135–140. Available at: https://iptek.its.ac.id/index.php/jps/article/download/4631/3304.

Nahiyan, A.-A. *et al.* (2019) 'Influence Factors in Extension of Time Claims', in *43rd Australasian Universities Building Education Association Conference*. Queensland, pp. 70–84. Available at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/339359235\_Influence\_Eactors\_in\_Exten

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/339359235\_Influence\_Factors\_in\_Extensio n\_of\_Time\_Claims (Accessed: 10 April 2022).

Nur Sofurah, M.F. (2015) 'Crafting Profile: A Way Of Presenting Interview Data In Qualitative Research', in *International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation*. Seville, Spain: International Academy of Technology, Education and Development (IATED), pp. 6395–6400.

Sani, A.S., Razali, A.H. and Mahmood, W.Y.W. (2018) 'Expert's Consensus on Payment Performance Attributes in the Construction Industry', *American Journal of Engineering Research*, 7(6), pp. 177–181.

Shah, A., Bhatt, R. and Bhavsar, J.J. (2014) 'Types and Causes of Construction Claims', *International Journal of Engineering Research & Technology*, 3(12), pp. 732–736.

Yusuwan, N.M. *et al.* (2021) 'Resolving issues and disputes in Extension of Time (EoT) claim in the Malaysian construction industry', *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 685(1). doi:10.1088/1755-1315/685/1/012015.

Yusuwan, N.M. and Adnan, H. (2018) 'Extension of Time Claim Assessment in Malaysian Construction Industry: Views from professionals', *Asian Journal of* 

Environment-Behaviour Studies, 3(10), pp. 28-35. doi:10.21834/AJE-BS.V3I10.310.

# 3.0 Thesis

Abidin, A. (2007) *The Profile of Construction Disputes*. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.

Ibrahim, J. (2012) *The Profile of Supplementary Agreement Law Cases*. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.

Loo, S.Y.J. (2012) *The Profile of Construction Delay Cases*. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.

Ooh, P.P. (2010) *Profile of Construction Payment Dispute*. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.

Thangathulai, C. (2019) *Profiling of Summary Judgement in Construction Industry*. Universiti Teknologi Malaysia.

# 4.0 Websites

Cambridge (2022) *Profiling*, *Cambridge Business English Dictionary*. Available at: https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/profiling (Accessed: 16 June 2022).

CIDB (2000) Standard Form of Contract CIDB (Building Works 2000 Edition), Construction Industry Development Board. Available at: https://anyflip.com/eopqr/bebu/basic (Accessed: 29 June 2022).

Clancey, J. (2021) *Progress Payments Defined: A Guide for Construction Contractors, NetSuite*. Available at: https://www.netsuite.com/portal/resource/articles/erp/progress-payment.shtml (Accessed: 29 June 2022).

Croner-i (2022) Advance payment in construction projects, Croner-i. Available at: https://app.croneri.co.uk/questions-and-answers/advance-payment-construction-projects?section= (Accessed: 29 June 2022).

DOSM (2022) Malaysia Economic Performance 2021, Department of Statistic Malaysia. Available at:

https://www.dosm.gov.my/v1/index.php?r=column/cthemeByCat&cat=153&bul\_id=UWFBZkhFZDBhanN5ZEUxRS96T2VRdz09&menu\_id=TE5CRUZCblh4ZTZMO DZIbmk2aWRRQT09 (Accessed: 6 June 2022).

JKR (2010) *Standard Form of Contract PWD 203A (Rev. 1/2010), Kementerian Kerja Raya*. Available at: https://www.kkr.gov.my/ms/node/2315 (Accessed: 29 June 2022).

Lee, K.H. (2013) *Mediation Act 2012: Not So Bad After All, The Malaysian Bar.* Available at: https://www.malaysianbar.org.my/article/news/legal-and-general-

news/members-opinions/mediation-act-2012-not-so-bad-after-all (Accessed: 6 July 2022).

NBS (2018) *National Construction Contracts and Law Report 2018 / NBS*, *NBS*. Available at: https://www.thenbs.com/knowledge/national-construction-contracts-and-law-report-2018 (Accessed: 6 June 2022).

Oxford Learner's Dictionaries (2022) *Research*, *Oxford Learner's Dictionary of Academic English*. Available at: https://www.oxfordlearnersdictionaries.com/definition/academic/research1 (Accessed: 13 June 2022).

Persatuan Arkitek Malaysia (2018) *PAM Contract 2018 (With Quantities), PAM.* Available at: https://theveritasdesigngroup.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/3.-tnc-pam-contracts-2018with-quantities.pdf (Accessed: 10 February 2022).

PropertyGuru (2022) *What's The Extension Of Time (EoT) For Construction In Malaysia All About?*, *PropertyGuru*. Available at: https://www.propertyguru.com.my/property-guides/a-simple-guide-to-extension-oftime-for-construction-in-malaysia-25638 (Accessed: 6 June 2022).

Puzzullo, J. (2018) Understanding Delay Claims: Looking Beyond the CPM, VERTEX. Available at: https://vertexeng.com/insights/understanding-construction-delay-looking-beyond-the-cpm/ (Accessed: 5 July 2022).

SCL (2017) *Delay and Disruption Protocol 2nd edition*, *The Society of Construction Law*. Available at: www.scl.org.ukwww.scl.org.uk (Accessed: 6 June 2022).

Smith, A. (2020) *Acceleration - who pays?*, *LinkedIn*. Available at: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/acceleration-who-pays-andrew-smith/ (Accessed: 6 July 2022).

Terence, T. (2021) *Extension of Time in Construction Malaysia*, *RPM Schedulers*. Available at: https://rpmschedulers.com.my/blog/extension-of-time-in-construction-malaysia/ (Accessed: 6 June 2022).

Wenham, K. (2018) *Concurrent delays and Construction Contracts*, *Driver Group Plc*. Available at: https://www.driver-group.com/en/asia-pacific/news/concurrent-delays-and-construction-contracts (Accessed: 5 July 2022).